1931

# William Budge Memorial Hospital v. E.N. Maughan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS.

The plaintiff is a corporation organized in 1914 under the laws of this State, as the Budge Hospital with a capital stock of \$35,000.00 divided into 3500 shares at \$10.00 each. It was organized as the articles of incorporation show, in all respects as other stock share corporations, organized for pecuniary profit and gain. The hospital owns its grounds, buildings, furniture, and equipment. The main building and the Nurses Home are both three story buildings, in addition to the basements. The main building is 100 feet long by 40 feet in width, and the Nurses Home is 80 feet long by 40 feet in width. The rates charged by the hospital are \$2.50 per day in a ward, \$4.00 per day for private room, with a few rooms at \$5.00 per day (Ab. 23).

The purpose of the organization of the corporation is stated in article 6 as follows:

#### Article 6.

"That the purpose of said corporation and the business for which the same is formed, is to build, establish, operate and maintain, at Logan City, Utah, and at such other place or places as may be decided upon by the board of directors, a hospital, or hospitals, for the treat-

ment and care of persons suffering from any and all ailments, excepting the treatment of such ailments and diseases as may be, by the by-laws of said corporation, excluded, and to install in said hospital any and all conveniences equipments and appliances for the proper care and treatment of the patients of said hospital or hospitals; to acquire, own and hold real estate and all kinds of personal property and mixed property and to sell, mortgage, hypothecate and otherwise dispose of the same; to acquire, hold and own, sell, mortgage, hypothecate and otherwise dispose of all other kinds of property, rights, privileges and franchises that may be deemed of value or useful in carrying out any of the purposes of the corporation; to incur indebtedness in such amount as may be deemed necessary or expedient; to buy or otherwise acquire, sell and dispose of stock in other corporations, or associations organized for any purpose similar to this corporation and in general to do anything incidental to the main purpose of this corporation which in the discretion of the board of directors for the time being may be considered necessary, convenient and proper to carry out said corporate purposes."

Shortly after its incorporation its capital stock was increased and the name of the Hospital was changed from the "Budge Hospital" to the "Utah-Idaho Hospital", under which name the plaintiff operated until 1927, when the name was changed to "The William Budge Memorial Hospital".

In the latter part of January and the fore-part of February, 1928, an attempt was made to alter or change the purpose of the corporation by an attempted amendment of Article 6. The "Notice of Stockholders Meeting", mailed out by the Secretary (Plaintiff's Exhibit C) sets forth the proposed amendment, and is as follows:

“Notice of Stockholders Meeting.

To the Stockholders of the William Budge Memorial Hospital:

You will please take notice that the annual meeting of the stockholders of the William Budge Memorial Hospital will be held at the Hospital Building in Logan, Utah, on Tuesday the 31st day of January 1928, at 2 o'clock P. M. of said day.

You are further advised that in addition to the ordinary business of the corporation the stockholders will consider the advisability of amending Article Six of the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation to read as follows:

ARTICLE VI.

The corporation is created for the purpose of maintaining, operating, and conducting hospitals and other institutions for the care and treatment of sick, wounded, injured and infirm persons, of maintaining schools and other places for the education and training of nurses; of acquiring, holding, owning and controlling suitable grounds and structures to carry out the objects of this corporation, with power to receive from any source whatever gifts, donations devises and bequests of real and personal property, for the use and benefit of the corporation; to charge and receive compensation for nursing and treating patients; to nurse and treat patients free of charge whenever, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, they are worthy objects of charity; to have and exercise all the

rights, powers and privileges given to such corporation by common law; to sue and be sued; to borrow money and secure the payment thereof by notes, mortgages and deeds of trust upon the personal and real property of the corporation; to mortgage, incumber, lease, sell or convey such real and personal property as may be necessary and proper to carry out the objects of the corporation, unless such property has been received as a gift or devise for some special purpose, and if so received, it shall be used and applied only for such a purpose, provided, however, that in no event shall any profit result from the management or operation of this Corporation, of any of its hospitals or properties, to the incorporators, or stockholders herein, or to any other person, except the general public, for whose benefit this corporation has been organized, and all money received by this corporation from any source whatever, in excess of the actually necessary expenses and disbursements required for carrying out the objects of this Corporation, shall be used and held for the sole benefit and advantage of this corporation, in the furthering of the charitable purposes for which it has been organized.

“From net profits arising from the hospitals or other properties of the Corporation, if any such profits there shall be, the Board of Directors shall, from time to time, set apart, as a sinking fund, such sums as it may deem advisable, to be used whenever, in the opinion of the Board, the same should be used for the maintainance, enlargement or improvement of the hospitals or other corporate properties.”

"It is the opinion of the Board of Directors that this amendment should be made *as it would be for the best interest of the hospital.*

"By reason of the recent change made in the name of the Hospital, from Utah-Idaho Hospital to William Budge Memorial Hospital, it will be necessary for you to send in your stock certificate *properly signed*, so that a new stock certificate bearing the name of WILLIAM BUDGE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL can be issued to you. We would thank you to give this your *immediate attention* so that the change can be made *without delay.*

"Also kindly give us your latest address so that future notifications may be properly forwarded to you.

William Budge Memorial Hospital.  
Geo. Y. Smith, Secretary."

The policy of the hospital is to charge all patients, who enter its doors for care and treatment, the regular hospital fees. If the patient is sent to the hospital by the Relief Society, the Bishop of a Ward, or any social clubs, etc., the policy of the hospital is to charge, and it aims to collect from the members of such relief society, ward, church or club the full and regular hospital fees due from such poor patient. The Hospital has no policy to even reduce its regular hospital charge or fee to such poor patients. If the patient is impecunious and unable to pay the hospital fees, and is not sponsored or taken care of by the Relief Society, Bishop of the Ward, or club, etc., then it is the policy of the hospital to apply to the County



Commissioners of Cache County and have the County pay the regular hospital charge or fee for such poor patient. The statements and bills so presented by the hospital to the County have always been paid by the County to the hospital as presented and have been paid out of the County poor fund (Ab. 51).

That it is the policy of plaintiff to thus charge its regular hospital fee from all patients who enter its doors for care and treatment is to a large extent admitted by the pleadings: In paragraph 3 of the Reply we read:

“but plaintiff alleges the facts to be in that respect that the plaintiff has at all times charged patients who entered its hospital for care and treatment only such hospital fees as were fair, reasonable and moderate and necessary to be charged for the maintenance, operation and upkeep of said hospital, including the purchase of necessary equipment and the providing of necessary facilities for proper hospital service for the people of the section of country served by said hospital; and that all the income of said hospital has at all times been devoted to said purposes and has been used for no other purpose.”

Again in paragraph 4 of the Reply:

“Answering paragraph IV plaintiff admits that it has been is policy during the year 1928, and prior thereto, to collect its regular hospital fees from all patients entering its hospital for care and treatment who were able to pay, and admits that at various and diverse times plaintiff has applied to the County Commissioners of Cache County for the payment of hospital fees for care and treatment of indigent persons cared for and treated at its hospital.”

That such is the policy of the plaintiff Hospital is also frankly admitted by Dr. D. C. Budge, the Medical Director

of the plaintiff Hospital and Chairman of the Medical Staff, in his direct examination (Ab. 23, 24):

"The territory served by the hospital is Cache Valley, Box Elder County, Rich County, Bear Lake, and Southern Idaho. All patients who applied in 1928 were admitted except contagious diseases and insanity cases. Patients were sent to the hospital by anybody, bishops of wards and churches, Kiwanis and Rotary clubs, and other organizations. No distinction was made as to race, color, or creed. All patients were charged.

Q.: No matter from what source they came?

A.: We would attempt to have patients pay, yes. I think they did not all pay in 1928. Our policy in 1928 was to have it understood and the patients are notified as early as possible, or the responsible party appraised, that the hospital *bills must be paid*. It is expected that the bills will be paid by the time they are ready to leave the hospital.

Q.: Your policy is to collect from all?

A.: Yes, or as much as we can do so.

Q.: In other words, so that I may understand you, if any organization or a bishop of a ward or the Rotary club or some other organization sent a patient there you would attempt to get pay from the members of the organization that sent the patients?

A.: Yes."

And also in his cross-examination (Ab. 25, 26, 28):

"Once in a while we get patients from wards, the

Bishop gives notice to us that they are sending a patient. The patient is admitted as a charity case, but the patient is billed for the amount of the hospital charge, the same as any other patient. The same is true when the patient is brought in by the Rotary clubs, or the Bishop of the wards, or other relief organizations.

The County occasionally sends poor patients to the hospital, and they are charged the same rate as other patients, including fees for laboratories, tests, X-rays, etc. In such cases we bill the County for the amount of the hospital fees. The County understands that the case is a county charge. The County pays for all patients sent to the hospital from the County. I call a patient that we receive from the county a charity patient although the County pays for all the charges. In the same way I call the patients we receive from a ward in the church a charity patient, although the Bishop pays the hospital fees. If only the hospital part of it is paid, we call it a charity case.

If the doctor's fee is paid, then it is not a charity case. It is a charity case so far as the hospital is concerned, although the hospital fees are paid, because the hospital takes all the fees that it receives and puts them back into the institution for its maintenance and expense, and for upbuilding and to make it better for patients that come there hereafter; no member, director or officer or anybody else gets a cent out of the institution. That is the reason it is a charity institution.

All patients who enter our hospital are charity patients so far as the hospital is concerned. There is no distinction so far as the hospital is concerned whether the party who goes and pays his own way or whether the patient is paid for by the Bishop of the ward or the Church, or the County.

As near as it can the hospital aims to collect its hospital charges in all cases. The hospital does not receive patients as a purely charity case with the idea that there is no charge for the patients from any source. When they come there they understand that the hospital fee is to be paid from some source. I don't remember of any case in 1928 who came there and said they couldn't pay for the hospital charges where the hospital has taken care of them\*\*\*

The witness: As I stated this morning, there is no distinction so far as the hospital fees are concerned whether the patient was produced by a member of the staff, or by the ward, or by the County or a club. In all cases the hospital fees must be paid. Although that is a fact, I still consider them charity cases. No matter whether the Bishop paid for the poor patient or who paid, or if it was a charity organization or a church or anybody else, it was considered a charity case. If the man paid his own hospital fees and did not pay the doctor's fee, I would say it was a charity case.

Although the hospital fees are paid by the patient, it is still a charity case. If, for example, John Smith should

bring his wife to our hospital and she should under-go an operation, if he paid the hospital fee for his wife but did not pay for the doctor's fee for the operation, we would consider it a charity case. The X-ray is a part of the hospital charge and is collected by the hospital at the time. 75 percent of all the X-ray charges go to Budge Clinic. The hospital pays this percentage to the doctor who operates the X-ray machine because the X-ray is such a technical instrument, and particularly the reading of the pictures that it requires an expert, and the hospital pays him that percentage for his services."

Likewise, the hospital Superintendent, O. J. Larsen, testified that all patients were told when they entered the hospital that they were expected to pay the hospital or make arrangements to pay the hospital fee before they left; that the hospital fees, which the plaintiff hospital charges and tries to collect are the regular charges that are charged all patients, standard hospital charges; that the total unpaid hospital accounts for the year 1928 amounted to only \$272.76, which he as such superintendent had made every effort to collect (Ab. 37). The gross earnings of the hospital in 1928 was in excess of \$48,000.00, all of which was collected, except the \$272.00 (Ab. 35). The net earnings of the hospital for the year 1928 was \$5000.00 (Exhibit 12).

In addition to the above admissions by the plaintiff, it must also be kept in mind that the defendant offered to prove by witnesses subpoenaed and present at the trial

that not only was it the policy of the plaintiff hospital to collect its regular hospital fees from all its patients, including poor patients, but that on many occasions, covering a period of 8 to 10 years prior to 1928, the plaintiff hospital had actually on various occasions detained its poor patients and prevented them from leaving the hospital until the hospital fees were paid. The objection to the introduction of this testimony was sustained by the Court on the ground that it was incompetent (too remote) and cumulative. To that ruling of the Court defendant excepted, and cites as error (Ab. 56, Error No. 4).

The plaintiff hospital is a closed hospital, all major surgery is confined exclusively to Dr. D. C. Budge and his brother S. M. Budge whom he has taken in with him on the surgery end, both are members of the Budge Clinic. The operation of the X-ray machine is confined to Doctor Hayward (Ab. 30), who is a brother-in-law of Dr. D. C. Budge, and a member of the Budge Clinic, and the medical staff of the hospital (Ab. 39). The Budge Clinic gets 75% of all laboratory and X-ray fees charged and collected by the hospital from the patients. The hospital keeps up and pays all expenses in connection with the X-ray machine as well as the laboratory, out of its 25% split. The 75% of the gross earnings from these two sources are paid over to the Budge Clinic by the hospital without any deductions for any portion of the expense (Ab. 37). The hospital fees thus collected by the hospital, for laboratory and X-ray service and turned over to the Budge Clinic in

1928 amounted to \$6170.06 (Ab. 58). The income to the hospital from the X-ray for the year 1928 was \$1414.25; the X-ray expense to the hospital for the year 1928 was \$1116.60 in addition to the expense for supplies for the X-ray, electric energy charge, etc. (Ab. 36).

The complaint alleges that the hospital is a corporation, and owns certain property with the buildings thereon which have been maintained and operated for the care and treatment of the sick, injured and infirm persons, and that plaintiff has also maintained and conducted a home for the accommodation, comfort and education and training of nurses, and that the said real estate is necessary for the convenient use and occupation of the said hospital equipment and plant; which allegations are admitted by the Answer. The complaint also alleges that the said property of the plaintiff corporation with the buildings thereon, has at all times been used and now is used exclusively for charitable purposes, which allegation is denied by the Answer.

The Answer affirmatively alleges and the Reply admits:

1. That the plaintiff, William Budge Memorial Hospital, is the same corporation as the Utah-Idaho Hospital, which was organized April 24, 1914.

2. That plaintiff corporation has paid taxes each year on its property since its organization prior to 1928.

3. That it has been the policy of the plaintiff during the year 1928, and prior thereto, to charge and collect its

regular hospital fees from all patients entering its hospital for care and treatment.

. That at various and diverse times plaintiff has applied to the County Commissioners for the payment of hospital fees for the care and treatment of indigent persons cared for and treated at its hospital.

The Answer alleges affirmatively, and the Reply denies, thus putting in issue the following allegations:

1. That the Utah-Idaho Hospital was organized as a corporation for pecuniary profit, and that neither under the name of the Utah-Idaho Hospital, nor the William Budge Memorial Hospital, has the plaintiff complied with the laws of this State governing the organization of corporations not for pecuniary profit and gain.

2. That during the year 1928, and for many years prior thereto it has been the policy of the plaintiff to demand and collect large and substantial hospital fees from all patients entering its hospital for care and treatment, and that such fees be paid before patients left the hospital; which has necessitated at times public subscription and donation in order to relieve poor patients.

3. That plaintiff's hospital is not open to all medical practitioners in good standing, but is operated for the use, benefit, and gain of certain members of the medical profession belonging to or affiliated with the Budge Clinic, who own or control a majority of the stock of the plaintiff corporation, and thus dominate the policy of the hospital.



## ARGUMENT.

These matters thus put in issue all go to the one big and controlling question before the court in this case: Is the plaintiff a charitable institution, and is its property *used exclusively for charitable purposes*? If it is, then all will agree that the plaintiff is entitled to have its property exempt from the payment of taxes. If plaintiff's property is not thus used, then plaintiff should be required to pay its fair share of the taxes, for it is the mandate of the Constitution and the laws of this State, that "all property in the state (not exempt) shall be taxed in proportion to its value." (Article 13, Sec. 2. Constitution; Sec. 5861, Compiled Laws 1917).

It is submitted that the trial court erred in its judgment holding that plaintiff's property was used exclusively for charitable purposes and was therefore exempt from the payment of taxes, and permanently enjoining the defendant, as County Treasurer of Cache County, from collecting the taxes levied and assessed against the plaintiff's property for the year 1928, for the following reasons:

A. From the admissions made and conceded by the plaintiff in its pleadings, it affirmatively appears that the plaintiff is not a charitable institution and that its property is not used exclusively for charitable purposes; for in the Reply it is affirmatively alleged, and admitted: (1) That plaintiff is the same corporation as the Utah-Idaho Hospital and owns and conducts the same hospital property, (and the Articles of Incorporation admitted in evi-

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