1931

# William Budge Memorial Hospital v. E.N. Maughan : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### ARGUMENT.

When the case was called for trial the plaintiff moved to amend paragraph four, above quoted, by inserting in the next to the last line of said paragraph, after the word "thereon," the words "during said year," so that the paragraph would read "but said property and the whole thereof, with the buildings thereon, *during said year*, has at all times been and now is used exclusively for charitable purposes."

The defendant objected to the amendment, upon the ground that the paragraph, as it stood, presented an issue as to the character of use of said property, not only in 1928, but for all prior years since the establishment of the hospital; that this same issue was presented by the allegations of the affirmative defense and plaintiff's reply thereto, plaintiff having made no motion to strike such affirmative allegations, so as to eliminate the question as to the use of said property prior to 1928. The court denied the motion to amend, using this language:

"THE COURT: I take it the issue is with respect to the use of the property during the year 1928. It may be true that the court should go into a time prior to that to determine what bearing it has, but the sole question now is to determine the use of the premises during 1928. Now you may go into the years prior to that perhaps as having a bearing on the issue as to the year 1928.

"MR. FONNESBECK: That is all we want, your Honor.

THE COURT: But I think the question is the use of the property in 1928.

MR. FONNESBECK: We do not feel that we should be restricted on the question of the entire use that has been made of this property——

THE COURT: Well, I don't think it is necessary to argue that question now; you can argue that during the introduction of evidence, but I don't think that the amendment is necessary to paragraph four." (Tr. 53-55.)

There is but one question for determination by this court: Was the plaintiff's property, during the year 1928, used exclusively for charitable purposes, and therefore exempt from taxation for that year?

Article 13, Section 3, of the Constitution of the State of Utah, provides:

"Lots, with the buildings thereon, used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes \* \* \* shall be exempt from taxation."

Section 5863, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, provides:

"Lots, with the buildings thereon, used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes \* \* \* shall be exempt from taxation."

The evidence, without contradiction, establishes the fact that during the year 1928, the hospital property consisted of a main building 100 feet long by 40 feet wide,

and a nurses' home, 80 feet long and 40 feet wide, the latter building being used, in part, for the accommodation of patients. There are about fifty beds in the hospital and the rates charged are \$2.50 per day in a ward; \$2.75 per day semi-private; \$4.00 per day for private rooms, and there are two rooms in the entire hospital at \$5.00 each per day. There are thirty nurses who are paid during their three-year course of instruction as follows: Freshmen \$9.00, Juniors \$10.00 and Seniors \$11.00. These payments cover such items as books, clothing, etc. (Sup. Abs. 5.) The nurses receive a course of instruction given by the hospital staff and superintendent of nurses, to qualify them to pass the State Board examination. The hospital is equipped with laboratories, X-rays, accessories and all other paraphernalia necessary for carrying on hospital activities, and is standardized as required by the American College of Surgeons. It is recognized by the Federal Government as an institution that is permitted to withdraw alcohol for the treatment of patients and the government does not require it to file an income tax report. (Sup. Abs. 7.) The hospital is open to all who desire the benefit of its facilities, without distinction as to race, color or creed. No person applied for admittance in 1928 who was rejected and the same consideration and care is given to all who enter the institution. Most of the patients are admitted through some member of the medical staff, but there are also numerous patients received who are sent by Rotary and



Kiwanis Clubs, Bishops of wards, Relief Societies and other organizations, and there are also patients received whose hospital fees are paid by the county. It was the practice of the institution in 1928 to list each patient upon entrance to the hospital and to charge against such patient or the person or organization at whose request the patient was received, the regular hospital fees, which cover room accommodations, nursing, food, medicines and supplies, laboratory fee (outside of special laboratory work) and for use of the operating room, in case an operation was necessary. It was the policy and practice of the institution during 1928 to collect from all patients who are able to pay and to receive from the county the hospital fees for indigent patients. During the year 1928 the hospital received about 1800 patients and the fees charged amounted to approximately \$48,000.00. (Deft.'s Ex. 12.) The whole amount was collected, save and except about \$272.00, which amount represents the aggregate of bills owing by twenty-one patients who failed to pay. (Deft.'s Ex. 14.) County patients and all patients sent in by Rotary and Kiwanis Clubs, Bishops and Relief Societies, were treated by members of the medical staff free of charge, in accordance with the provisions of the By-Laws, which read as follows:

“It shall be the duty of the medical staff to treat at the hospital the worthy poor as charity cases, free of charge; the worthiness of such cases is to be determined by the bishops of the various wards or the clergymen of the various churches,

or other heads of some recognized charitable organizations or institutions, who shall nominate the patient for free treatment and such nomination shall be concurred in or indorsed by some one of the members of the medical staff of the institution residing in or near the locality from which such patient comes." (Deft.'s Ex. 2.)

The charity work done by the doctors in 1928 aggregated \$2500.00. (Sup. Abs. 6.)

Except as provided in the foregoing By-Law, the hospital had absolutely nothing to do with the fixing of the fees of the doctors for services performed by them, or with the collection of any such fees. For X-ray work and special laboratory work, which requires the services of an expert, the hospital employed a radiologist and technician, who was a member of the Budge Clinic, and who received a commission on each case of seventy-five per cent of the charge made, the check for which commission was made payable to the Budge Clinic. This commission charge was made in lieu of employing a person at full time, and is the practice adopted in other hospitals, as shown by the testimony of Mr. Rawson, the president of the State Hospital Association. (Sup. Abs. 13-14.)

None of the stockholders of the corporation ever received any returns from their investment by way of dividends or otherwise, and none of the officers or directors of the corporation have ever received any compensation, and no part of the hospital income has been devoted

to any other purpose whatsoever, save and except to the maintenance and enlargement of the institution and the improvement of its facilities. (Sup. Abs. 7, Tr. 45-46.) The evidence shows that in 1927, after a period of fourteen years, the hospital had on hand a surplus of \$31,000.00 (Abs. 33), and that during that year Drs. D. C. Budge and T. B. Budge made a donation of \$5,000.00 (Abs. 34), and that this whole amount of \$36,000.00 was invested in the addition to the hospital, part of which, as before stated, is used as a nurses' home. The hospital was, at the time of the trial, indebted to the amount of approximately \$8,000.00. Its net income for the year 1928 was approximately \$5,000.00, and this amount also was devoted to the payment of interest and to maintenance and operation expenses.

While there is no evidence of any specific case of a person applying to the hospital in 1928 for treatment, who at the time, was known by the hospital authorities to be unable to pay the hospital charges, Dr. Budge testified that if at any time any such application had been made such patient would have been received. (Tr. 67, 87.) He explains that the territory from which the hospital draws its patronage is one in which there are very few transients; generally the people own their own homes (Tr. 67) and there is little question ever raised about hospital charges (Tr. 138); but in proof of his assertion that it was the policy of the institution to receive and take care of worthy cases, even though no

compensation would come to the hospital, Dr. Budge, on cross-examination, called attention to one or two cases in prior years; one of a person who was passing through Wellsville, who was kept in the hospital for a period of sixteen weeks without pay (Sup. Abs. 9), and he also mentioned other cases where persons were taken to the hospital without regard as to whether or not they would be able to pay, and without any inquiry being made to ascertain that fact. As to the policy of the institution he testified:

“Q. Doctor, what is the rule—I believe you stated that a charge was made by the hospital against all patients who come to the hospital, is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that the rule——

A. Now, I won't say that. There have been a few cases that I do not call to mind where nobody was responsible that we have taken and treated free of charge and we haven't made any charge against them.

Q. Don't have any record of it?

A. I stated one this morning that happened here a little bit ago where no charge was made. I could refresh my memory and look it up and tell you more about it, but right off hand I couldn't. The superintendent looks after that part of it.

Q. Has the superintendent authority to take parties into your hospital if they say they have no means and can't pay you.

A. When they say they have no money or means or friends or a dollar on earth, the superintendent would be kicked out if he didn't take them.

Q. Would he?

A. Yes, that is if I had the vote.

Q. You generally have, don't you?

A. Well, I might have some say so, but that is the object of the hospital all the time.

Q. Do you recall the Williams case? He was run over a year ago last July 4th?

A. Yes, sir, that was in 1926.

Q. It was in 1927, wasn't it?

A. Maybe it was, I don't remember.

Q. He had no friends here and was a total stranger, was he not?

A. Yes, I think he was. I didn't take care of him, but I assisted with the case.

Q. He was very badly mutilated and broken up by an automobile running over him, wasn't he?

A. Yes.

Q. You came down yourself the next morning in that case, when the man was brought to your hospital; he was brought there in the night time, was he, on July 4th?

A. I think he was, yes.

Q. Didn't you go down the next morning to the county commissioners to see them?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Did you send somebody down?

A. No, I did not.

Q. Did somebody go, to your knowledge?

A. Yes, I think so; I think they called up and asked them if they would be responsible for the case.

Q. And the reason they desired to know that?

A. Yes, they make inquiry in these cases.

Q. Before they took him in?

A. No. They took him in and took care of him without regard to whether they were going to get a dime or not." (Tr. 87-88.)

LORENZO HANSEN, President of respondent organization, testified as follows:

"Q. Now, you made the remark, Mr. Hansen, on your direct examination, that you made an effort to collect from everybody who is able to pay?

A. That is our policy, yes.

Q. Where did that policy appear; does it appear any place on the minutes of your board meetings, or in your By-Laws, or your records, that your policy is to admit patients who are unable to pay?

A. I don't believe that I could recall the record, but the opinion amongst all of them——

Q. Well, I don't want your opinion——

MR. BUDGE: I insist that he should make his answer.

THE COURT: Yes, he may answer.

Q. Go ahead, the court said you may state your opinion.

A. My opinion is the policy is that everybody is admitted, regardless of their financial condition. If any question comes up at any time as to a man's responsibility to pay the bill——

Q. What did you say about that?

A. If a patient comes to the hospital it is the policy of the hospital never to ask the question as to his responsibility, that is my opinion.

Q. That is your opinion?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That has been your idea all along?

A. All the time.

Q. But you say you have no personal knowledge of your own that that actually is carried out in the institution?

A. Yes, sir, I have.

Q. How do you know?

A. Well, there was a case up here in Richmond last November where a woman got her back broke and the doctor came along there and picked her up and put her in there, and they attended her and no bill was rendered at all until after she was well, then we rendered a bill, so she was accepted." (Tr. 115-116.)

The foregoing statement and the quotations from the record correctly sets forth the use made of the hospital property and particularly the use made of it in the year 1928.

During the course of the trial appellant offered in evidence the Articles of Incorporation of the respondent company, which were at first excluded, and later, over respondent's objection, admitted in evidence, and respondent, after the articles had been admitted, offered an amendment to said articles.

Upon such a state of the record the question is: Was the property of the respondent, during the year 1928, used exclusively for charitable purposes?

The appellant makes a point on this appeal that the court erred in not throwing the case open for evidence, with respect to the operation of the hospital for the entire period since 1914, when respondent company was organized, because he contends: (1) That such issue

was presented by the complaint itself; (2) that the issue is presented by the affirmative answer, which respondent did not move to strike, but which it denied by its reply. As to appellant's assigned errors, based on the refusal of the court to permit evidence as to conditions during years prior to 1928, we have to say, that nothing was or is involved in this case except the respondent's exemption from the taxes of 1928. Respondent paid the taxes for years prior and no matter how the property was used during those years, such use is immaterial, for, if the hospital property was not used exclusively for hospital purposes and the taxes have been paid, then they have been justly paid. If the hospital property during those years was used exclusively for charitable purposes, it is of no importance, for we are not asking for a return of any taxes for any of those years. Consequently the one matter in issue was and is the right of the respondent to enjoin the collection of this particular tax, based upon the use of this property for the year 1928. Paragraph IV of the complaint cannot be reasonably construed to open the door to the introduction of proof as to conditions prior to 1928. It reads:

“That the occupation, use and maintenance of said property for the aforesaid purposes is the sole and only business of plaintiff, and plaintiff at no time *during the year* 1928 operated, nor was said property or any part thereof, at any time, *during said year*, used for the gain or profit of the stockholders of the plaintiff, but said property,



and the whole thereof, has at all times been and now is used exclusively for charitable purposes."

The words "has at all times," of course, must have reference to the year 1928, which was the limited period twice before specified in that particular paragraph. We endeavored to avoid any question of construction by asking permission to amend the complaint which the court did not consider was necessary.

The mere fact that we did not ask to have the affirmative defense stricken is no reason why it was competent to admit any proof under such defense. These affirmative allegations presented immaterial issues, and while it is quite proper to move to strike immaterial allegations, the failure to make such a motion does not make competent proof offered in support thereof.

In the case of *Graham vs. Coos Bay, etc., Co.* (Ore.) 139 Pac. 337, it is held:

"Where no motion is made to strike out irrelevant matter in a pleading, it should be disregarded at the trial.

"A denial of an immaterial allegation raises no issue; does not preclude the person making the denial from insisting at the trial that the allegation denied is immaterial, nor prevent the trial court from excluding evidence in support thereof."

In the case of *Ramaswamy vs. Hammond Lum. Co.* (Ore.) 152 Pac. 223, it is held that the denial of an immaterial allegation raises no issue.

Securities Acceptance Corporation vs. Kane,  
196 N. Y. S. 519.

Neis vs. Whitaker (Ore.) 84 Pac. 699.

Specht vs. Spangenberg (Iowa), 30 N. W. 875.  
Ency. of Plead. & Prac., Vol. 21, page 256.

In the Specht-Spangenberg case the court declares:

“An affirmation, irrelevant when made, does not become relevant when denied.”

In Encyclopedia of Pleading & Practice, supra, it is said:

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